aid

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J WAITE

AUG 1/1 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 78,226

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

HARRY WINDERMAN,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMES M. TUTHILL, ESQ.
Christiansen, Jacknin & Tuthill
Attorneys for Respondent
1555 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard
Suite 1010
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 689-1888
Florida Bar No. 441491
Florida Bar No. 269131

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The FLORIDA BAR filed its complaint against WINDERMAN, on or about July 3, 1991 (Plds-Complaint). WINDERMAN filed his answer and affirmative defenses to the complaint on or about August 1, 1991 (Plds-Answer). The Final Hearing was conducted before the appointed referee, Robert Collins, on March 23 and 24, 1992 (RR). On April 9, 1992, the Referee rendered the Report of Referee (RR).

On May 27, 1992, WINDERMAN timely filed his Petition for Review pursuant to the rules regulating the FLORIDA BAR, Rules of Discipline, Rule 3-7.7.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about February of 1989, WINDERMAN became engaged to represent Donald F. Wells ("Wells") in connection with a claim by Wells against Security and Investment Cooperation of the Palm Beaches, Willis B. Mall, Phyllis V. Mall, Gaylee C. Gulley, Darryl Mall and Richard T. Stierer (RR-2). Hereafter, Security Investment Cooperation of the Palm Beaches will be referred to as ("Security") and the other Defendants will be referred to as ("Defendants").

The basis of Wells' claim was that he invested money with Security and that Security and the other Defendants had improperly induced such investment and improperly dealt with it after the investment was made, thereby causing Wells to lose his investment (RR-2). As part of his representation, WINDERMAN negotiated a detailed settlement agreement with Security, which settlement agreement, if honored would have provided Wells with almost all of his investment (T-7). However, Security ultimately refused to execute the agreement (T-7, 186).

Subsequent to the preparation of the settlement agreement, Security commenced **a** reorganization in bankruptcy court (T-7). WINDERMAN reasonably believed that based on the pending bankruptcy action that the only manner for Wells to recover anything was to be able to **sue** the principals of Security which would prevent them from being able to discharge those liabilities in bankruptcy themselves (T-7,8). WINDERMAN maintained that the only practical solution available for Wells would be to institute an action under "RICO" or Florida Security laws which might prevent the discharge

of judgments against the principals/Defendants. At that point, WINDERMAN petitioned the bankruptcy court for permission to institute an action on behalf of Wells (T-8). WINDERMAN moved the bankruptcy action to lift the stay provided by the bankruptcy code to enable Wells to file an action against Security and the principals of Security (Plds-Respondent's Finding of Fact).

Thereafter, in March of 1989, WINDERMAN filed a summons and complaint and various discovery pleadings in an action commenced on behalf of Wells against Security and Defendants venued in the Circuit Court, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit bearing case no.: 89-2394 AE. (RR-3). The suit included counts for Federal and Florida Securities Violations and "RICO" Actions, civil fraud, misrepresentation and enforcement of the settlement agreement (T-227,228) (Plds) (RR) (Plds-Respondent's Findings of Fact).

Security was included as an indispensable party, however, Security had already listed Wells as a creditor for the entire amount of his investment and did not object to the amount of the claim (T-13). At all times in the underlying action, each of the parties' claims for payment of their principal sum investment had already been acknowledged by Security in the United States Bankruptcy Court and those claims continue unaffected by the state court action. The state court action was intended to gain additional judgments against the individual Defendants who were believed to have personally benefited from the alleged transactions (Plds-Respondent's Findings of Fact) (T-13). Thus, WINDERMAN maintained that a breach of contract or any other action against

Security would have been redundant and provided Wells with no greater standing in the bankruptcy court (Plds-Respondent's finding of fact).

By motion filed on March 31, 1989, Security and the Defendants sought an order dismissing the complaint (RR-3). WINDERMAN filed the First Amended Complaint on May 26, 1989 (RR-3). By motion filed June 23, 1989, Security and the Defendants sought an order dismissing the first amended complaint (RR-3). WINDERMAN filed the second amended complaint on July 21, 1989 (RR-3). As of June 1989, certain other investors in Security and Wells agreed to join as a group to prosecute the Wells actions, which at that time had already been amended (Plds-Respondent's finding of fact).

Subsequent to his undertaking representation of Wells, WINDERMAN, in or about July ox August of 1989, was retained by and undertook representation of John and Betty L. Cooney ("Cooneys") and Vera Harrington ("Harrington") in connection with such clients' claims against Security and the Defendants (RR-8). At the time WINDERMAN undertook representation of these other clients, Wells owed WINDERMAN approximately \$13,000.00 in attorney's fees for his representation of Wells which was billed on an hourly basis from February of 1989 (Plds-Respondent's Findings of Fact) (T-13). basis of each client's claims was essentially the same as Wells. WINDERMAN filed a complaint on behalf of the Cooneys (RR-9) against Security and the Defendants on August 17, 1989 venued in the Circuit Court, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit bearing case no,: 89-2394 AE. (RR-9). WINDERMAN filed a complaint on behalf of

Harrington in or about August of 1989 venued in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit bearing case no.: 89-8341 AH (RR-9). WINDERMAN agreed with counsel for the Defendants that the Wells case would be used as a test case and that all of the consolidated cases would be determined by the Wells case in order to eliminate the necessity of multiple hearings and identical issues and provide for consistency in rulings (RR-9). By agreement of the parties and subsequent order filed May 2, 1990, the actions filed on behalf of Cooneys and Harrington were consolidated with the Wells action. (RR-9) (T-227).

Betty Phillips ("Phillips") inquired of WINDERMAN in or about June 1989, to ascertain whether or not WINDERMAN would represent Phillips in a claim against Security and the Defendants, the basis of her claim was essentially the same as that of Wells and the other Plaintiffs. (RR-12). WINDERMAN forwarded Phillips four separate proposed retainer agreements (RR-1,2). Although WINDERMAN never received an executed retainer agreement from Phillips, she did forward to WINDERMAN copies of her documents which were necessary only if she was interested in having a suit instituted on her behalf (Plds - Respondent's Finding of Fact). All of the other Plaintiffs in the group executed retainer agreements with WINDERMAN except for Phillips. Phillips paid no retainer and maintained that she did not retain WINDERMAN (RR-12). In or about August 1989, WINDERMAN filed a complaint on behalf of Phillips against Security and the Defendants yenued in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Court case no.: 8-8339 AD. (RR-12),

WINDERMAN was told by all of the above individuals that they had no funds in which to prosecute the action other than their initial retainer and if significant additional costs were involved they would not be able to carry on the action. (T-86,237) (Plds-Respondent's Finding of Fact).

WINDERMAN testified that he communicated with Wells or Cooney in the belief that communicating to one was communicating to all of the group. WINDERMAN testified that he communicated to Wells extensively at the beginning of the suit telling him what was going on or the nature of what the suits were. WINDERMAN further testified that he met with his clients at the Bankruptcy court on four or five occasions (T-237). Both Cooney and Harrington acknowledged meeting with WINDERMAN on several occasions during the course of his representation. Even though the evidence was conflicting, the Referee found that WINDERMAN failed to adequately communicate with his clients (RR-5,6,11). Such finding was based on the demeanor of the witnesses, even though Harrington and WINDERMAN were the only witnesses who appeared for their complete testimony at the final hearing, and because WINDERMAN could not produce correspondence except for his May 1992 Notice of Withdraw (RR-5,6).

In response to the limited resources of his clients, WINDERMAN performed his own extensive analysis of Security's books and records, and determined that the principles of Security had not pocketed any significant assets and were not going to be able to pay any judgment to the parties if one was obtained (T-8,238). The

State of Florida was actively moving to revoke the Defendants mortgage licenses and to impose substantial penalties on themwhich in fact was done (T-9,232). The bankruptcy court's independent examiner also investigated the books and records of Security and found no evidence that the principles of Security had taken any money for their own benefit (T143-145,239). WINDERMAN testified that the state of Florida was moving to revoke the mortgage licenses of the principals of Security and that the State of Florida was seeking to impose substantial penalties on those individuals (T-9). In fact, ultimately, this was done by the State of Florida, which left WINDERMAN's attempt to bring Security's attorney and certified public accountant into the case as Defendants as the only viable opportunity for recovery (T-9). Cooney testified that the Florida State Controllers Office levied joint fines against the principals of Security and revoked all of their licenses (T-151),

At a meeting held at Mrs. Cooney's house in September 1989, in which WINDERMAN and his clients attended, the parties met with the independent bankruptcy examiner and reviewed the examiners report and evaluated their options against Security (T-79). Cooney testified that the creditors committee had requested an independent examiners assistance (T-114). Based upon the above referenced review, WINDERMAN expressed to his clients that in his opinion, the only realistic opportunity to recover anything from anyone in the case was an attempt to bring in, as parties, the professionals; the attorney and the certified public accountant who had done the work

for the company (T 239). WINDERMAN testified that he repeatedly made it clear to his clients that unless the accountant and the attorney could be held for their participation in the business transactions, their was very little hope of recovering a civil judgment and that whatever they would recover against the corporation would come from the bankruptcy court proceedings (T-239).

WINDERMAN testified that he made it clear to his clients that if either the attorney or the certified public accountant were dismissed from the case along with their malpractice insurance carriers that there would be very little opportunity to pursue any claims against any of the other individuals. It was his belief that his clients came to that same conclusion (T 240-241).

WINDERMAN testified that it was clear to him that his clients were in agreement that there was no use in pursuing the case because of the lack of assets worth pursuing (T-241).

At the meeting held at Mrs. Cooney's house, all of the parties were told that the only chance of significant recovery was to join the attorney and accountant but that Florida had a concept of "privity" which made it very difficult to reach those individuals (Plds-Respondent's finding of Fact) (T87,92).

WINDERMAN testified that the trial court eventually dismissed the "RICO" allegations because the trial court relied on case law that did not establish a requisite pattern of conduct (RR-8,9). At the time that WINDERMAN plead the "RICO" allegations, it was almost impossible to trace the rapidity of the Court's decisions

involving the standard for "RICO" causes of action (T-8). Brian Joslyn, the attorney for Security and the Defendants, testified that the "RICO" allegations involved an extremely intricate set of statutes with a tremendous amount of case law decided on all sides of the issues (T-230). WINDERMAN testified that the trial court ultimately rejected his numerous attempt to bring Security's accountant and attorney into the case. He maintained that he plead those matters as best he could on at least three separate occasions but the trial court would not accept the authority he cited.

At the disciplinary hearing WINDERMAN cited <u>Dah Chong Hong Limited v.</u>
<u>Silk Greenhouse Inc.</u>, 719 F. Supp 1072 (M.D. Fla. 1989) to demonstrate that the causes of action he had plead were now sustainable (T13-14). The <u>Dow Chong Hong</u> case denied Defendant's motion to dismiss in an action brought by the Plaintiff to recover for racketing fraud, unjust enrichment, tortious interference with the contractual relations, and theft of trade secrets. WINDERMAN maintained that he had correctly plead a requisite pattern in characterization for a cause of action under "RICO" (T-14). Brian Joslyn, described WINDERMAN's representation in unflattering terms and opined that WINDERMAN could have at least framed a sustainable cause of action for breach of contract (T229-230). Specifically, Joslyn recalled a specific motion to dismiss hearing on the "RICO" allegations where he came to court with \$250 to \$300 worth of copied cases as opposed to WINDERMAN attending with only authorities from Florida Jurisprudence (T-230).

On at least two separate occasions between his last meeting with the group and his office meeting in January of 1990, he had conference calls with Cooney and Wells to discuss the case

including Mrs. Cooney's extensive discussions with the State Office of the Comptroller and the matters in the Bankruptcy Court (Plds -Respondent's Findings of Fact). Cooney testified that on at least two occasions she had conference calls with WINDERMAN between August 1989 and January of 1990 (T-117). Wells admitted that he copied with the lawsuit by WINDERMAN and was had phone conversations with WINDERMAN to discuss the status of the case (T-187-189, 211). Additionally, twice in January 1990, WINDERMAN met with Cooney and Harrington, to discuss the Wells action and the difficulties involved in the pending case (Plds-Respondent's Findings of Fact). Harrington testified that she recalled that WINDERMAN explained to the group the concept of "privity" and the difficulties involved with their attempt to add Security's accountant and attorney to the case (T-79,87). Cooney received three or four complaints sent to her from WINDERMAN's office (T-Besides the meeting at Cooney's house, the group met at least one other time at the Bankruptcy Court at which time Wells and Cooney instructed Winderman not to represent them or to file any papers with the Bankruptcy Court on their behalf (Plds -Respondent's Findings of Fact) (T-163-164).

Vera Harrington testified at the final hearing that at the time she hired WINDERMAN, it was her perception that a class action suit would commence and that the investors had formed a committee (T-55). Harrington signed a written retainer agreement and paid \$500.00 to WINDERMAN (T-57). Harrington did not recall being advised the Wells case would be a test case and that her case would

follow Wells case (T-71). During cross-examination, Harrington stated that Cooney as the acknowledged head of the committee should have reported back to the others and that this usually was done (T-84). Cooney became chairperson of the creditors committee in the Bankruptcy Court (T-140). Harrington testified that she understood that refilings had to be done in the case periodically (T-86). She testified that she was not surprised by the dismissal of the causes of action against the accountant and the attorney because of the prior discussions of the difficulties concerning "privity" (T-87). Harrington conceded that at the June 12, 1991 meeting at WINDERMAN'S office, WINDERMAN, had indicated that there was no one left to go after and that the parties really did not have a case Harrington testified that upon taking her file from (T-92). WINDERMAN's office, she took no other action in the case other than defending against the claim for attorney's fees (T-92). Harrington further testified that she recalled WINDERMAN discussing with her that he did not believe that there was any chance of recovery against the other Defendants in the case and he did not feel it was worth the parties investment of additional costs to try to pursue the matter (T-95). She conceded that prior to the last meeting with WINDERMAN, that the group and Harrington individually discussed the fact that if it appeared that there was not much chance at success that the case would stop (T-98).

By motion filed August 10, 1989, Security and the Defendants sought an order dismissing the second amended complaint (RR-3). An order dismissing the second amended complaint was duly entered in

1989 (RR-3). WINDERMAN filed a seven count third August 31, amended complaint on September 7, 1989 (RR-3). By order entered November 6, 1989, counts three four and five of the third amended complaint were dismissed with prejudice and counts two, four and six were dismissed without prejudice. (RR-3) WINDERMAN filed a five count fourth amended complaint on November 21, 1989 (RR-4). By motions dated November 29, 1989 and January 8, 1990, Security and the Defendants sought an order dismissing fourth amended complaint (RR-4). By order entered May 3, 1990, counts three, four, and five of the forth amended complaint were dismissed with prejudice with Wells, Cooney and Harrington afforded an opportunity to file an amended complaint provided that they do so on or before May 26, 1990 (RR-4,9). WINDERMAN did not file an amended complaint on behalf of the Cooneys or on behalf of Harrington or Wells (RR-4,9).

On or about June 12, 1990, Cooney, Harrington and Wells, came to WINDERMAN's office to review their respective files. Wells was given his complete file on that occasion but he would not allow copies to be made for Cooney and Harrington (T91,170,208). Cooney and Harrington were given their files. WINDERMAN testified that Mrs. Cooney and Mrs. Harrington came on two separate occasions to his office where he explained both times that there were no assets that he felt worth pursuing and that if they wanted to pursue an action against the individuals that they had the ability to take it in the bankruptcy court to an adversarial proceeding where they could continue the pending action (T-242). WINDERMAN waited a couple of days before he filed his motion to withdraw because he

assumed that his clients would be obtaining new counsel and he did not want to provide any strategic advantage to the other party (T-15).

WINDERMAN testified that the major concern of his clients at the June 12, 1992 meeting in his office concerned their exposure for attorney fees (T-243). Wells and Cooney both testified that their discussion with WINDERMAN at that meeting centered on the issues of attorney fees (T-168, 200-201). Additionally, WINDERMAN explained that the State was going to file an administrative complaint against the individual principals of Security and that the State action, together with the completion of the Bankruptcy action would provide his clients with whatever rights they might have against any state funds. (Plds - Respondent's Findings of Facts).

On June 18, 1990, WINDERMAN filed his motion to withdraw (Ex:-2). Paragraph 1 of the motion to withdraw recited that the Plaintiff has requested counsel to withdraw (Ex.-2). Wells testified that he never requested WINDERMAN to withdraw (T-214). WINDERMAN testified that Wells never expressly stated a request for him to withdraw. However, WINDERMAN testified that he sincerely believed that Wells wanted him to withdraw based upon Wells taking his file on June 12, 1992 from WINDERMAN's office. Wells did not respond to the May 24th letter when he came to the meeting on June 12th, 1992 at WINDERMAN's office. There was no testimony from Mr. Wells that he had objected to the May 24th letter. Additionally, Wells was copied with the notice and did not dispute the notice or

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