้ มไ WHITE SID AUG /31 1992 ERK, SUPREME COURT. Chief Deputy Clerk IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case No. 78,226

Complainant,

vs.

HARRY WINDERMAN,

Respondent.

ANSWER REF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

Inow Br.

DAVID M. BARNOVITZ #335551 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

While separate violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct may, in **some** instances, merit imposition of public reprimands or short term, automatic reinstatement length suspensions, in the case at **bar**, the cumulative demonstration of respondent's **acts** of misconduct, engaged in with such cavalier and willful abandon, with the resultant prejudicial impact on so many clients is indicative of an attorney who must be dealt with in the manner suggested by the referee.

The recommended sanction αf a two (2) year suspension will assure the public and demonstrate to the bar that attorneys who treat their clients in such a manner as to demonstrate disdain for their interests will be administered substantial disciplinary measures commensurate with such cumulative misconduct.

ARGUMENT POINT I RESPONDENT'S CUMULATIVE MISCONDUCT WITH THE RESULTING CLIENT PREJUDICE WARRANTS IMPOSITION OF THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED SANCTION.

Respondent urges that he is innocent of the violations charged by the bar and found by the referee. In his sixty-seven findings of fact, however, the referee has carefully documented the evidence supporting each finding. It is respectfully submitted that such evidence is overwhelming and would survive any burden of proof. It is axiomatic that a referee's finding of fact is presumed correct and will be upheld unless clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker</u>, 485 *So.* 2d 815 (Fla. 1986); <u>The Florida Bar v. Price</u>, 478 So. 2d 812 (Fla. 1985).

If respondent had merely neglected his clients' cases, the bar would be seeking a public reprimand in this proceeding. The cases are legion that an isolated instance of neglect merits such sanction. The Florida Bar v. Welty, 382 So.2d 1220, 1223 (Fla. 1980). Respondent's misconduct, however, transcends simple neglect and requires a stiffer penalty.

First, respondent's failure to file a fifth amended complaint, or, to inform his clients so that they could attend thereto by retaining new counsel, resulted in the dismissal of the clients' cases, <u>WITH</u> <u>PREJUDICE</u>. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Palmer</u>, 504 So. 2d 752 (Fla. 1987) the Court suspended the respondent for a period of eight (8) months where respondent's neglect had resulted in the dismissal of **his** client's cause of action **due** to the running of the statute of limitations. In The Florida Bar v. Solomon, 409 So. 2d 1052 (Fla, 1982), the Court

-6-

approved a three (3) year suspension where the respondent had undertaken representation and failed to pursue the same with the result that the client's claim was dismissed for lack of prosecution. In <u>The</u> <u>Florida v. Baron</u>, 408 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 1982), the Court upheld a one (1) year suspension where the respondent failed to answer a request for admissions. There was no indication of any client prejudice. The Court noted that the respondent had a prior disciplinary record.

The foregoing constitutes but one facet of the misconduct involved in this proceeding, It is the addition of the other violations indulged in by respondent that virtually mandates a more severe penalty,

After neglecting his clients' cases and failing to inform them of the May 26, 1990 deadline for filing an amended complaint, respondent compounded matters by neglecting to inform Mr. Wells that an application had been made seeking imposition of a judgment for costs and attorneys' fees. The resultant prejudice to Mr. Wells was devastating. Having invested the proceeds derived from the sale of his home and other assets to see the same lost through the machinations of Security and Investment Corporation, Mr. Wells now faced the disaster This cumulative misconduct, alone, merits of a \$12,000.00 judgment. imposition of enhanced discipline. It is axiomatic that the Court deals more harshly with cumulative misconduct than it does with isolated misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Williams, 17 FLW S397 (Fla. June 25, 1992): The Florida Bar V. Golden, 561 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 1990); The Florida Bar v. Mavrides, 442 So. 2d 220 (Fla. 1983). It cannot possibly be mitigating nor bring any semblance of honor to respondent's actions to suggest, as he does in his brief, that he failed to notify Mr. Wells of the pendency of the taxation of attorneys fees motion because

-7-

respondent had listed **Mr**. Wells as a recipient of his motion to withdraw. The motion to tax attorney's fees (bar's exhibit 13 in evidence) contains a certificate of service that makes no reference to Mr. Wells. Respondent's argument is indicative either of an attempt to mislead or ignorance regarding the plain import of the referenced certificate of service.

The foregoing, serious enough so as to warrant imposition of a substantial sanction, is compounded by additional and even more serious violations. In the hierarchy of bar offenses, few are regarded with more dire consequences than misrepresentations to a tribunal. "No breach of professional ethics, or of the law, is more harmful to the administration of justice or more hurtful to the public appraisal of the legal profession than the knowledgeable use by an attorney of false testimony in the judicial process." Dodd v. The Florida Bar, 118 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1960). Even where a misrepresentation was not crucial to the outcome of the case the Court disbarred a respondent for permitting a witness to testify under a false name. The Florida Bar v. Agar, 394 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1981). In The Florida Bar v. Lund, 410 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1982), the Court suspended the respondent for untruthful testimony before a grievance committee. In the case at bar, respondent knowingly filed a pleading in the securities case upon his application for withdrawal stating that the motion was filed at the request of his client. That statement was false and respondent knew it was false when he made it. While the misrepresentation, perhaps, does not rise to the level of those in Dodd and Agar, such misconduct, when added the neglect of and inadequate communications to his clients, to constitutes sufficient and substantial cause for increasing the penalty.

-8-

Respondent compounded matters further by making a glaring misrepresentation to the referee in this disciplinary proceeding. In his opening, respondent represented that he had been told by Brian Joslyn, Esq., attorney for the defendants in the securities case, that Mr. Joslyn would not seek attorney's fees and costs against respondent's clients. Mr. Joslyn disabused the referee of such misrepresentation explaining that no such conversation ever transpired.

The net effect of the foregoing is the creation of a portrait, bit by bit, reflecting an attorney who has great difficulty discerning and reporting the truth.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Fitzgerald</u>, **541** So. 2d 602 (Fla. 1989), the Court had an opportunity to comment regarding a respondent's attempt to extract an agreement from his victim regarding a bar complaint. The Court, in commenting on this type of "omerta" agreement stated: "We caution the public and the Bar that any such agreement is not enforceable," In the case at bar, respondent, after causing his client to suffer the entry of a judgment for costs and attorney's fees against him, required the client to sue him before he would respond appropriately. Even then, respondent insisted that his client withdraw the bar grievance **as** a quid pro quo for receiving that to which **he** was entitled. Such action on respondent's part simply is not consistent with the mindset of an honest individual,

It is respectfully submitted that when all of the components of respondent's misconduct are weighed together, the inescapable conclusion must be drawn that respondent should be removed **from the** rolls of bar membership for a considerable period to permit him time to reflect regarding his ethical responsibilities, to dissuade others from

-9-

similar practices and to assure an ever concerned public that the legal profession will **brook** no such behavior in its ranks.

Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions reinforces the **bar's** recommendations. Standard **4.41** provides that disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly fails to perform services for **a** client and causes serious or potentially serious injury to **a** client. Standard 4.42 provides that suspension **is** appropriate when a lawyer engages in **a** pattern of neglect and causes injury or potential injury to a client. Certainly respondent's failure to respond timely by the filing of a fifth amended complaint and his subsequent failures to communicate the dismissal to his clients and to **inform** them of the application for attorney's fees and costs constitutes a pattern **of** neglect causing injury to a client,

Standard 5.11(f) provides for disbarment when a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentatian that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice. It is respectfully submitted that respondent's misrepresentation to the trial court that he was requested to withdraw by his client, his misrepresentation to the referee that he was informed that no applications for attorney's fees would be directed against his clients and **his** forcing Mr. Wells to first sue him and then agree to withdraw the bar grievance in order to receive that which should voluntarily have been offered, constitutes the intentional conduct embraced by Standard 5.11(f).

Finally, Standard 7.2 provides that suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed **as** a professional and causes injury or potential injury to **a** client,

-10-

the public, or the legal system. The cumulative violations hereinabove recited, in the **bar's** view, bring respondent squarely within the the purview of Standard 7.2.

The Court's attention is respectfully directed to Standard 9.22 which defines aggravating factors. It is submitted that several exist. Certainly, respondent was selfishly motivated when he forced his client to institute a lawsuit to recover what should have unhesitatingly been offered. The pattern of misconduct and the multiple offenses have been Respondent submitted false evidence during the described in detail. disciplinary process when he suggested to the referee that his adversary in the underlying civil litigation had promised not to seek attorneys' fees. Respondent hardly acknowledged the wrongful nature of his conduct conceding, at most, that he should have documented his file rather than relying upon alleged oral communications. The vulnerability of the victims in this proceeding is particularly compelling. The referee had an opportunity to assess several of the individuals involved and to read the depositions of others. The bar respectfully submits that respondent's clients, suffering from grievous losses, were certainly vulnerable under the circumstances. Nor can respondent suggest that his failures were due to inexperience. He was admitted to Finally, respondent's indifference to restitution was the bar in 1976. exemplified by his treatment of Mr. Wells. By his own admission, he, as of the final hearing, had yet to reimburse his other clients for expenses they incurred in defending against actions to impose attorney's fees.

It is of some considerable significance that respondent's shenanigans provoked judicial commentary **prior** to the institution of the

-11-

subject disciplinary proceedings, In the litigation underlying respondent's course of misconduct, <u>Donald F, Wells v. Security and</u> <u>Investment Corporation of The Palm Beaches, et al</u>, Case No. CL **89-2394** AE (Fla. 15th Cir. Ct. 1989), the trial judge, in entering the order of dismissal, with prejudice, above referenced, took pains to observe:

7. Neither the plaintiff Wells nor his counsel (who is also counsel for all five (5) other Plaintiffs) attended the hearing on the instant Motion to Dismiss.

8. The Court finds this is the third hearing within the last week at which neither Plaintiff Wells nor his counsel, Harry Winderman, Esq., has appeared.

9. The Court specifically finds that notwithstanding the fact that a Motion to Withdraw has been filed by Mr. Winderman, the Motion has not been heard by this Court and Mr. Winderman has not yet been permitted to withdraw as counsel for Mr. Wells or for any other Plaintiff.

10. The Court's patience has been taxed to the limit. (Bar's exhibit 5 in evidence, page 3).

Respondent would urge the Court to believe that he was in regular communication with his clients, fully informing them of all of the shades and nuances of the outstanding litigation. In fact, respondent not only was unable to produce a single piece of correspondence addressed to any of his clients, save for his letter of May 24, 1990 informing them of his intention to cease their representation, but offered no explanation at the final hearing and has ignored in his brief all of the communications (correspondence and court motions) addressed to him by various of his clients in which he is berated for not communicating with them (See bar's exhibits 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, and 23).

These exhibits present a poignant picture of clients, totally in the dark, literally begging for information. It is most respectfully urged that respondent's failure to address even one of such inquiries demonstrates not only his callous disregard of his clients, but a willingness to permit the public records created by his clients' pro se filings to go unanswered. Would any attorney, anywhere, under any circumstances, permit such filings to remain unexplained if such attorney had even a modicum of a sense of propriety?

Respondent asserts that his representation to the court in his application for permission to withdraw that he did so with the consent of his client is corroborated by Mr. Wells' indication that Mr. Wells was not surprised by the fact of withdrawal. The fact was, is and remains that the representation simply was untrue. At the time the application was filed, Mr. Wells was confused concerning what was occurring. He testified :

> Q. On June 12th, 1990, did Mr. Winderman -did you request of Mr. Winderman that he file a motion in your action to withdraw as attorney in that action?

A. I did not.

Q. After June 12 --

A. Just let me clarify that. We asked Mr. Winderman if he would proceed because frankly at least my feeling, on June 12th I was lost. I felt kind of abandoned and I thought it would be -- we needed some sort of idea as to what was going on at this time, you know, did we need to do anything.

I think Mrs. Cooney led us in that respect to the extent that did we need to protect ourselves relative to attorneys fees, what did we need to do if anything.

She was concerned and we were all concerned about that. (201).

Respondent, in addressing the referee's findings regarding his unauthorized representation of Betty Phillips, totally avoids Ms. Phillips' repeated efforts to secure information from respondent regarding whether or not he had, in fact, commenced an action on her behalf. Ms. Phillips' July 13, 1990 letter to respondent (bar's exhibit 7 in evidence) specifically seeks confirmation that respondent will rectify the court records. Respondent's reply (bar's exhibit 8 in evidence) totally avoids his client's inquiry. Pressed for information by Ms. Phillips' July 21, 1990 letter (bar's exhibit 9 in evidence) respondent resorted to his favorite tactic, viz., total avoidance and silence.

It is difficult to understand why a judge's acceptance of one side's proposed judgment over the other's clouds a judge's findings **and** recommendations as charged by respondent in his brief. Certainly it is common practice for counsel to submit proposed findings and for courts **either** to adopt the same in whole or in **part** or to fashion their own. The implicit suggestion that the referee was biased is both insulting and belied by **the** abundance of evidence sustaining each of his findings **and** recommendations.

CONCLUSION

Harry Winderman undertook representation of a group of traumatized victims of a defunct mortgage company and rather than attempting to assuage his clients through diligence and a flow of information, added to their victimization through incompetence, neglect, lack of communications and intentional withholding of information vital to his clients' welfare. Coupled with respondent's misrepresentation to the trial court vis a vis his client's consent to withdrawal and his lack of candor to the referee vis a vis his adversary's alleged statement about recovering attorney's fees, a pattean of cumulative misconduct is presented warranting the two (2) year suspension recommended by the referee.

All of which is respectfully submitted,

and M DAVID M. BARNOVITZ #335

Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 N. Andrews Ave., Ste. 835 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309 (305) 772-2245